STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

In the Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM CHEROKEE COUNTY

Court of General Sessions
The Honorable J. Derham Cole

RECEIVED

Nov 17 2020

Case No.: 2019-001778

SC Court of Appeals

Shaun Rogers, Jr.,

Petitioner,

vs.

State of South Carolina,

Respondent.

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

TOMMY A. THOMAS
Bar No.: 005536
Post Office Box 88
Irmo, SC 29063
(803) 732-5507

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

STATEMENT OF ISSUE ON APPEAL

Did the trial court err in denying Petitioner's motion for directed verdict when there was insufficient evidence to support the State's allegations that he was more than merely present during the commission of the crimes?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND OF FACTS

Petitioner Shaun Rogers, Jr. is presently confined in the South Carolina Department of Corrections pursuant to orders of commitment from the Cherokee County Clerk of Court. On April 25, 2019, he was indicted by the Cherokee County Grand Jury for murder (2019-GS-11-00690), attempted murder (2019-GS-11-00692), possession of a firearm during commission of a violent crime (2019-GS-11-00690), discharging a firearm into a dwelling (2019-GS-11-00693), attempted armed robbery (2019-GS-11-00691), burglary first degree (dwelling) (2019-GS-11-00694). He proceeded to trial before the Honorable J. Derham Cole and a jury October 7-9, 2019 in Cherokee County. He was found guilty of burglary in the first degree (dwelling) and attempted armed robbery, with the jury hung on the other charges.¹ Petitioner was sentenced to terms of imprisonment for twenty years for burglary in the first degree and twenty years for attempted armed robbery, with credit for time served. A notice of appeal was on October 17, 2019. This brief follows.

The factual basis for the charges is a drive-by shooting that occurred in Gaffney, Cherokee County, South Carolina on October 2, 2018. Overton Good and his girlfriend, Danielle Smith, were waking up and sitting in the living room when Jermaine Jefferies, Petitioner's co-defendant, knocked on the door. A gun was thrust through the door, but Mr. Good shut the door without incident. Ms. Smith called the police. Shortly thereafter, a car drove by and fired shots toward the home, one of which killed Mr. Good. At the time of filing, Jermaine Jefferies is in Cherokee County Detention Center awaiting disposition, though he has already accepted responsibility for being the shooter. (R. p.325, lines 17-22)

¹ Appellant is awaiting retrial on the other charges.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

“In reviewing the denial of a motion for directed verdict in a criminal case, the evidence must be viewed in the light most favorable to the State. A jury issue is created when there is any direct or circumstantial evidence which reasonably tends to prove the guilt of the accused.” State v. Kimbrell, 294 S.C. 51, 362 S.E.2d 630 (1987), citing State v. Owens, 291 S.C. 116, 352 S.E.2d 474 (1987); State v. Mathis, 287 S.C. 589, 340 S.E.2d 538 (1986).

“If there is any direct evidence or any substantial circumstantial evidence reasonably tending to prove the guilt of the accused, an appellate court must find the case was properly submitted to the jury.” State v. Cherry, 361 S.C. 588, 593-94, 606 S.E.2d 475, 478 (2004).

ARGUMENT

The trial court erred in denying Petitioner's motion for directed verdict when there was insufficient evidence to support the State's allegations that he was more than merely present during the commission of the crimes.

Petitioner appeals his convictions for burglary in the first degree and attempted armed robbery. Petitioner's convictions were based solely on the theory of accomplice liability, or "the hand of one is the hand of all." Throughout the State's case, there was no allegation that Petitioner physically performed any of the acts that satisfy the elements of the offenses for which he was indicted. Rather, the State argued that there was a prior agreement between the gentlemen, such that rises to the level of a common intent and purpose, such as required by State v. Cannon, 49 S.C. 550, 27 S.E. 526 (1897) and its progeny. Because there was a total lack of evidence presented to show knowledge or prior involvement by Petitioner, his directed verdict motion should have been granted, both at the end of the State's case and his own.

To make its case, Respondent presented witnesses that stated they saw two gentlemen, who had traveled in the same vehicle, talking near the home Good and Smith shared. Smith testified that she saw both men leave the vehicle and identified Petitioner; however, she stated that Petitioner never entered the home, nor did he possess a weapon. (R. p.115, lines 7-16) Additionally, prior to trial, Smith never identified either defendant by name. (R. p.116, lines 9-12) She stated that Good told the 911 dispatcher he knew the man who tried to enter the trailer was named Jefferies. (R. p.109, lines 8-10; p.117, lines 1-2; 8-11 and 911 recording (State's 18 and 19)) Ultimately, she only saw Petitioner looking toward the home, not actually near it or on the porch. (R. p.115, lines 17-19) She testified on direct examination that she thought she heard both men on the porch, but only saw Petitioner near the car. (R. p.111, line 24 – p.112, line 3) She identified that the gun that was thrust into the home was pink. (R. p.111, lines 8-9)

Testimony was also presented by the decedent's mother, Carolyn Good. She testified that a car carrying two men pulled into her driveway for approximately 45 seconds prior to the incident. (R. p.124, line 15 – p.125, line 2) Shortly thereafter, they pulled away and she assumed they had the wrong address. (R. p.125, lines 12-13) However, she watched as they drove away toward a stop sign at the exit of the neighborhood. As they did so, the passenger leaned out of the car and fired at Mr. Good's home. (R. p.126, lines 4-8; lines 14-15; p.127, lines 7-11) She also identified the gun as being pink. (R. p.127; lines 23-25) Mrs. Good testified that she only got a good look at one of the men, he being the one who had the gun, and he was Jermaine Jefferies. She provided this identification to law enforcement. (R. p.130, lines 3-9) She further admitted that she did not see Petitioner or identify him in a lineup. (R. p.134, lines 11-23)

Respondent's other witnesses testified to a Facebook post made by Petitioner before the incident (Richard Lanier Good, Jr. – decedent's brother), a bullet hole in a home (Virginia Anne Lindsey, neighbor), the fact that the co-defendants attempted to obtain a job for Jefferies at a bank the same day (Angela Crawford Smith and May Snipes Denton), and that the co-defendants took a cousin of Jefferies' to pay for his ankle monitor (JaQuan Wood). None of this testimony placed either co-defendant at the incident or reflected on their actions whatsoever. The only potential connection in these latter witnesses was the testimony from Billy Anthony, a crime scene investigator with Cherokee County Sheriff's Office, who testified that the pink gun which fired the bullets recovered from the scene was found in Jefferies' house. (R. p.203, lines 6-15)

In his defense, Petitioner presented testimony from Lashonda Conley, mother of Jefferies, who testified that she owned a pink gun that had gone missing and drove a silver Ford Fusion at the time. (R. p.232, line 8 – p.233, line 2; p. 234, lines 17-21) These facts clearly are circumstantial links between Jefferies and the crimes.

The testimony as described above only placed Petitioner at the scene, nothing more. “Mere presence at the scene of a crime is insufficient to convict one as a principal on the theory of aiding and abetting.” State v. Zeigler, 364 S.C. 94, 103, 610 S.E.2d 859, 864 (Ct. App. 2005); see also State v. Johnson, 291 S.C. 127, 352 S.E.2d 480 (1987); State v. Condrey, 349 S.C. 184, 562 S.E.2d 320 (Ct. App. 2002). Respondent did not and could not present any evidence as to Petitioner’s state of mind, the intentions of the co-defendants, any agreements to act together, or even any knowledge Petitioner may have possessed regarding Jefferies’ plans.

“To be guilty as an aider or abettor, the participant must have knowledge of the principal’s criminal conduct.” State v. Leonard, 292 S.C. 133, 355 S.E.2d 270 (1987). “Mere presence at the scene is not sufficient to establish guilt as an aider or abettor.” Id. at 137, 355 S.E.2d at 272. There is simply no evidence presented at trial that establishes more than Petitioner’s presence at the scene. It is plausible that Petitioner drove by the home to exit the neighborhood, all the while begging Jefferies to stop shooting.

The record contains a transcript of the sentencing that was passed by Judge Cole. In it, while contemplating pleading guilty pursuant to Alford² for the charges on which the jury could not reach a verdict, Petitioner denies any knowledge of the crimes beforehand. (R. p.320, lines 6-22) Even when Petitioner had nothing to lose, he denied any knowledge of the crimes.

Simply, there is no evidence, whether direct or circumstantial, to show that Petitioner had any prior knowledge of Jefferies’ plans to commit these criminal acts. Petitioner was with Jefferies at the scene – this much is evidenced by eyewitness testimony. However, Respondent failed to produce any evidence that shows prior knowledge or discussion of the acts such that Petitioner

² North Carolina v. Alford, 400 U.S. 25, 91 S. Ct. 160 (1970)

would have been acting in concert with Jefferies. Petitioner was merely present at the scene and, as such, his convictions should be overturned.

Remainder of page intentionally left blank.

CONCLUSION

For the above stated reasons, Petitioner respectfully requests that this Court reverse his convictions.