STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

RECEIVED

Nov 17 2020

SC Court of Appeals

Appeal from Cherokee County
Honorable J. Derham Cole, Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No: 2019-001778

The State of South Carolina,

Respondent,

vs.

Shaun Rogers, Jr.,

Appellant.

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

DAVID SPENCER
Senior Assistant Attorney General

Post Office Box 11549
Columbia, SC 29211
(803) 734-3727

BARRY J. BARNETTE
Solicitor, Seventh Judicial Circuit

180 Magnolia Street, Third Floor
Spartanburg, SC 29306

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Appellant Rogers was indicted for murder, attempted murder, possession of a firearm during the commission of a violent crime, discharging a firearm into a dwelling, attempted armed robbery, and burglary in the first degree. Following trial on October 7-9, 2019, Appellant was convicted by the jury of the burglary charge and attempted armed robbery. The jury was unable to reach a unanimous verdict on the remaining charges, and the Honorable J. Derham Cole declared a mistrial for those charges. Judge Cole sentenced Appellant to concurrent twenty years' imprisonment for both of the charges upon which the jury found Appellant guilty.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

On October 2, 2018, Victim and her fiancé, Danielle Smith, were sitting on the love seat in their living room when Smith heard a car door close. She looked out the window to see two men with hoods over their head next to a car in the neighbor's driveway adjusting their pants looking right at Smith and Victim's trailer. She then heard a knock on the door. When Victim opened the door, Victim looked up and down, and Smith saw a pink gun appear through the door way. The gun was pointed at Victim's head, "directly in his face." R. pp. 106-09; p. 112 (hoods on, adjusting pants); p. 118 (hoods covering head).

Victim quickly shut the door and pushed against the door, getting on one knee to hold the door shut. He told Smith to call the police. R. pp. 108-09. Smith frantically dialed the phone, then Victim commanded she give him the phone. He told the 911 operator, "I don't know who it is but I know **one of them's** last name is Jefferies." R. p. 109, lines 2-11. Jefferies was Appellant's codefendant and the triggerman.

They breathed a sigh of relief when Smith looked out the window and saw the car next door was now gone. It proved a short-lived reprieve as suddenly Smith heard "the voices" and then a noise like firecrackers and bullets came through the house. Victim was struck, lay on the ground, bloody and not moving. R. pp. 109-11. Smith identified Appellant as one of the two men who exited the car in the driveway next door. R. p. 111.

Smith clarified she saw both men get out of the car and both men come to the front door. They were both wearing hoods. She heard **both** men come up the wooden steps on the porch. After Victim told Smith to call the police, she heard **both** of them run down the stairs. R. p. 111-12. On

cross-examination, defense counsel asked if Appellant ever came in house, Smith answered, “No. He was just right behind Jefferies.” R. p. 119, lines 13-15.

Victim’s mother (Mother) lived four houses down the street from Victim’s residence. She looked out her window and saw a car with two people inside sitting in her driveway for about 45 seconds. They turned the car back on and started to leave. The man in the passenger seat then put on his hood after the car pulled out. The car drove down the street and then came to another stop. R. pp. 124-26. Mother estimated the car proceeded at about 10 m.p.h., and she explained it stopped several times “to let” Jeffries hang out the window.

Mother described what happened next: “So about that time I see the passenger in the car protrude outta the window so much so that he put his left arm on top of the car, and then he had his right arm in the windowsill . . . as if you’re going to climb out of a window.” R. p. 126, lines 4-8. Then as the car moved forward, Mother saw an arm come out of the window and she saw a gun. Tr, p. 126, lines 11-15. Mother ran outside by her front door and then down to the edge of her driveway as she heard gunshots and watched in horror. R. pp. 126-27.

The car rounded the corner and at the stop sign, the passenger sat back in the vehicle, but still fired shots at Victim’s trailer. R. p. 127. The gun was pink. R. p. 127, lines 19-25. Mother provided more description:

Probably not even 10 miles per hour, I would say, because they were going really slow down the road. Several times they came almost to a stop to let him hang out that window, and then they slowed down a lot again when they got right there before the house that my son’s next-door neighbor – is where they slowed down again, and you could hear the first shot.

R. p. 128, lines 3-9. She testified she believed the two men in the car were working together to

execute the drive-by shooting. R. p. 130, line 24 – p. 131, line 1.

Victim's father (Father) testified he knew Appellant. Father trained Appellant at two different jobs and was Facebook friends with Appellant. After the shooting, he saw a post on Appellant's Facebook page that showed a pink gun. R. pp. 136-37; pp. 151-52.

Virginia Lindsey lived next door to Victim. She returned home to see firetrucks, ambulances, and police vehicles everywhere. She discovered her house was full of bullet holes. Fortunately, her eleven and six year-old grandchildren that she raises were not at the house at the time. R. pp. 156-62.

Detective Billy Anthony of the Cherokee County Sheriff's Office testified that the shooting was called in about 8:25 a.m. the morning of October 2. R. p. 181, lines 1-3. He subsequently retrieved a pink gun from Jefferies mother's house. The gun was in a chest of drawers. R. pp. 197-98. Forensic analysis determined all the bullets recovered from the crime scene were fired by the same 9 mm gun. R. p. 208. The parties stipulated the cause of death was laceration of the brain due to a gunshot wound to the head. R. p. 218.

At 9:00 a.m. on October 2, 2018, two men came in at American Staffing, according to Angela Smith, the staffing coordinator, who testified for the State. One of the men, Jermaine Jefferies, had an appointment that morning. The other man was wearing a hoodie. R. pp. 165-66.

Mary Snipes Denton, the staffing coordinator for First Staffing, testified she received a phone call from Appellant at 10:00 a.m. Denton offered him a job, but he said he was not calling for himself, but for a friend, and he then put Jefferies on the phone. Jefferies was supposed to come in at 1:30 p.m. that day, but never showed up. R. pp. 168-69.

Jaquan Wood testified that on October 2, Jefferies and Appellant picked him up at his house at 9:45 or 10:00 a.m., and took him to the jail so he could pay the fee for his monitoring device he was required to wear. R. p. 172.

Jefferies' mother testified for the defense. She confirmed that she owned the pink gun and testified she was unaware Jefferies was using it. R. p. 232. She testified that she knows Appellant. Appellant and Jefferies grew up together and hang out together a lot. R. pp. 233-34. She testified that Jefferies was driving her Silver vehicle that morning and dropped her off at work that morning, then picked her up at the end of her workday. R. pp. 234-35. Victim's mother previously testified that the car she saw in her driveway was silver, and she testified the man she identified as Jefferies was sitting in the passenger side. R. pp. 132-33.

ARGUMENT

The trial court did not err in denying the directed verdict motion because sufficient evidence existed for a reasonable juror to believe Appellant aided and abetted the burglary and attempted armed robbery because he accompanied the codefendant to Victim's door, both Appellant and the codefendant wore hoods, and the codefendant attempted to enter Victim's residence at gunpoint with Appellant following right behind. Codefendant and Appellant fled together, then Appellant drove the codefendant's vehicle and slowed down to enable the codefendant to discharge a firearm into Victim's dwelling.

Appellant argues the trial court erred in directing a verdict for both burglary and attempted armed robbery because there was insufficient evidence Appellant was more than merely present for the crimes. However, the evidence was sufficient for a rationale juror to find Appellant was not merely present, but aided and abetted in the burglary and attempted armed robbery: he accompanied the codefendant to Victim's house, they put their hoods over their heads before going to the door. Appellant went to the door with the codefendant, stood behind the codefendant as the codefendant pointed the pink gun across the threshold of the door, and left down the steps with codefendant when they fled. He drove codefendant away from the scene in the codefendant's car, and stopped and slowed the vehicle down to a speed allowing the codefendant to fire multiple shots into Victim's dwelling. Afterwards, Appellant did not distance himself from Jefferies, instead they pursued the next objective together, securing Jefferies work. Thus, a reasonable juror could conclude from the circumstances that Appellant came to Victim's door with the intent to encourage, support, and potentially assist Jefferies in the burglary and robbery before they were thwarted by Victim.

Standard of review

When considering a motion for directed verdict, the trial court is concerned with the

existence of evidence, not its weight. State v. Walker, 349 S.C. 49, 53, 562 S.E.2d 313, 315 (2002).

In reviewing the denial of a motion for a directed verdict, the reviewing court must view the evidence in the light most favorable to the State. Id. Ultimately, the question is whether, in view of the evidence in the light most favorable to the State, a rational trier of fact could find all the elements beyond a reasonable doubt. State v. Robinson, 310 S.C. 535, 539, 426 S.E.2d 317, 318 (1992) (finding any rational trier of fact could have found all the elements of the crime beyond a reasonable doubt in affirming the denial of a motion for directed verdict and citing Jackson v. Virginia, 443 U.S. 307 (1979)). The task of the trial court is to simply determine “whether the evidence presented is sufficient to allow a reasonable juror to find the defendant guilty beyond a reasonable doubt.” State v. Bennett, 415 S.C. 232, 781 S.E.2d 352 (2016). The reviewing court should affirm if in viewing the evidence in the light most favorable to the State, “the evidence could induce a reasonable juror to find [the defendant] guilty.” See State v. Pearson, 415 S.C. 463, 474, 783 S.E.2d 802, 808 (2016).

The United States Supreme Court noted the following:

[T]he relevant question is whether, after viewing the evidence in the light most favorable to the prosecution, *any* rational trier of fact could have found the essential elements of the crime beyond a reasonable doubt. . . . This familiar standard gives full play to the responsibility of the trier of fact fairly to resolve conflicts in the testimony, to weigh the evidence, and to draw reasonable inferences from basic facts to ultimate facts.

Pearson, 415 S.C. at 471 n.2, 783 S.E.2d at 806 n.2 (quoting Jackson, at 319) (emphasis in the original); see also State v. Richburg, 250 S.C. 451, 459, 158 S.E.2d 769, 772 (1968) (“When the evidence is susceptible of more than one reasonable inference, questions of fact must be submitted to the jury.”).

Accomplice liability

“Under the ‘hand of one is the hand of all’ theory, one who joins with another to accomplish an illegal purpose is liable criminally for everything done by his confederate incidental to the execution of the common design and purpose.” State v. Condrey, 349 S.C. 184, 194, 562 S.E.2d 320, 324 (Ct. App. 2002). “Under an accomplice liability theory, a person must personally commit the crime or be present at the scene of the crime and intentionally, or through a common design, aid abet, or assist in the commission of that crime through some overt act.” Id. at 194, 562 S.E.2d at 325 (internal quotation marks omitted).

“In order to establish the parties agreed to achieve an illegal purpose, thereby establishing presence by pre-arrangement, the State need not prove a formal expressed agreement, but rather can prove the same by circumstantial evidence and the conduct of the parties.” State v. Gibson, 390 S.C. 347, 354, 701 S.E.2d 766, 770 (Ct. App. 2010).

In State v. Newman, 80 S.E. 482, 482-83 (S.C. 1913), the Supreme Court found the following jury instruction to be clear and a correct statement of law:

[W]here two persons commit an offense, one standing by and seeing the other, aiding and abetting him, and being present aiding and abetting in the commission of the offense, the one who stands by thus aiding and abetting is as guilty as the one who actually commits the manual act. For example, if two persons waylay another in order to take his life, take that other’s life, and one does the actual shooting or cutting as the case may be, and the other stands by aiding and abetting, to give assistance, within the presence of the other, within range in order to give assistance, although he did not do anything as to pulling the trigger or cutting the person, he would be as guilty as the man who did the shooting or cutting.

Id. at 482-83. The Supreme Court further observed, “It is not necessary that those who unite in the

commission of a crime shall agree upon each particular act.” Id. In the instant case, a reasonable juror could find Appellant accompanied Jefferies to the door in order to be ready to provide assistance in the burglary and robbery.

“A defendant cannot be an accomplice simply based on evidence he knew about the crime or was present at the scene. However, the circumstances change if there is additional evidence that the defendant intended to aid in the commission of the underlying crime, and then did or attempted to do so.” Commonwealth v. Toritto, 67 A.3d 29, 35 (Pa. Super. Ct. 2013) (quoting Commonwealth v. Murphy, 844 A.2d 1228, 1234 (Pa. 2004)) (internal quotation marks omitted). The Superior Court observed, “The amount of aid need not be substantial so long as it was offered to the principal to assist him in committing or attempting to commit the crime.” Id. (quoting Murphy, at 1234) (internal quotation omitted).

Like Appellant in the instant case, Toritto argued the Commonwealth’s evidence only showed he was merely present during a drug transaction between his codefendant and an undercover agent. The Superior Court disagreed, noting evidence Toritto drove his codefendant to a bar and was present during much of the conversation between the codefendant and an undercover agent. The codefendant described Toritto as his cousin and told the agent he was good, and at the conclusion of the discussion between the codefendant and the agent about the drug transaction, Toritto handed the codefendant his keys so he could retrieve the drugs from Toritto’s car. He also suggested after the exchange of money that codefendant should count it. Id. at 34-35.

In reaching its conclusion, the Superior Court noted, “While it was Toritto’s hope that the jury would infer that Toritto merely learned of the narcotics transaction after he had already driven

[codefendant] to the bar to meet [the agent], this was not the inference drawn by the jury, who had the benefit of observing the witnesses and hearing the testimony first-hand.” Id. at 34.

As in Toritto, Appellant undoubtedly hoped the jury would believe that Appellant did not know when accompanying Jefferies to the front door that Jefferies was going to commit a burglary. However, as in Toritto, the sum of Appellant’s actions accompanying Jefferies to the house, walking with Jefferies to the door as Jefferies pointed his pink gun through the threshold, scurrying away with Jefferies, and finally providing Jefferies with the opportunity to shoot and kill Victim by driving Jefferies’ vehicle and slowing down to enable Jefferies to fire a volley of gunfire into Victim’s house, provided the jury ample evidence that Appellant intended to provide aid and assistance to Jefferies in a burglary and robbery.

In State v. Cox, 258 S.C. 114, 187 S.E.2d 525 (1972), in a prosecution for failure to stop for a blue light, law enforcement came upon the defendant’s car and another car shortly before they sped off on a drag-race. The officer pursued the vehicles, stopped them both, but again pursued defendant’s vehicle when it sped away. The vehicle stopped again and two people fled. The officer apprehended defendant and later identified him as the driver. However, the defendant testified he was just a passenger and not the driver. On appeal, the defendant complained that if he was not the driver, there was insufficient evidence he aided the other individual, Vaught. The Supreme Court disagreed, holding:

The appellant and Vaught had been friends for a number of years. On the night in question, after returning to Charleston from a visit with their girlfriends, they went drinking together. When first seen by Patrolman Kennerly, the appellant’s Pontiac was stopped on the interstate highway alongside another automobile. The strong inference, doubtless drawn by the jury, is that a race was in the offing.

Appellant's ownership of the car, inferably poised for an illegal race when the episode began; his failure to exercise his right to control over the operation of the car; his flight from arrest and subsequent attempt to hide Vaught's identity; and his own testimony at trial, combine to form the basis for a reasonable inference of complicity, even if the jury believed him to have been a passenger and not the driver.

Id. at 118-19, 187 S.E.2d 528. Appellant acted in concert with Jefferies at every turn – his complicity demonstrated strongest as he stopped or slowed Jefferies' car so Jefferies could fire multiple shots at the residence. The reasonable inference from the evidence is Appellant and Jefferies were acting together to burglarize and rob. It was just that Jefferies was tasked with leading the way into the house, armed with his pink gun.

In State v. Gilbert, 107 S.C. 443, 93 S.E. 125 (1917), members of the Gilbert family were defendants for the assault of a school principal who suspended Ruby Gilbert from school a few days prior to the assault. The principal and another teacher were on their way to a meeting when they were approached by the Gilberts. The women assaulted the principal, while the men, Rawton and Lawton Gilbert, stood around the teacher. Prior to the assault, the Gilbert men and women were seen conferring with each other, and then leaving together from the house where the meeting was to occur. The Supreme Court rejected the claim of insufficient evidence to convict Lawton and Rawton. The Supreme Court first observed:

If several persons in pursuance of a common design to commit an unlawful act, whether it be a felony or misdemeanor, **set out together** or in small parties, and each takes the part agreed upon or assigned him, some to commit the act, **others to watch at proper distances and stations to prevent interference or surprise or to encourage the commission of the unlawful act** or to favor, if necessary, the escape of those immediately engaged in the commission of the unlawful act, under these circumstances, if the unlawful act is

committed, the act of one is the act of all and all are presumed to be present and guilty; for this would be in pursuance of a common purpose in a common cause with them each operating in his station at one and the same instant to arrive at a common end. The act of each would tend to **give countenance, encouragement, and protection** to the whole gang and to insure the success of the common undertaking in the commission of the unlawful act.

Gilbert, 93 S.E. at 125-26 (emphasis added). The Supreme Court found sufficient evidence, noting the following:

[T]here was sufficient evidence in the case for the jury to say whether they gathered together for the unlawful, common purpose of assaulting and beating [the principal], and that the whipping was done in pursuance of that common design, and that all were present for the purpose of actually participating, or participating if necessary in carrying out their unlawful design. If they were there to carry out the unlawful designs in pursuance of a common design participating actually **or potentially** if necessary then all were guilty, the act of one was the act of all.

Id. at 126 (emphasis added). As in Gilbert, the evidence creates the inference that Appellant was at the ready to assist once inside Victim's residence and provide aid as necessary.

In the instant case, the State presented evidence of a burglary and attempted armed robbery in which the Victim met the burglars at the threshold of his house. Appellant does not challenge the sufficiency of evidence to prove the substantive offenses. Appellant and Jeffries came together to the house. They approached the door together – hoods on. Appellant was right behind Jeffries when he pointed the pink gun through the doorway. They left together when Victim yelled to his fiancé to call 911. Appellant drove Jeffries away from the house in Jeffries' vehicle. Appellant turned the car around in Mother's driveway, drove back to Victim's house, and stopped and slowed down in front of Victim's house to enable Jeffries to position himself to discharge a firearm into the house. They

remained together after the incident, visiting a staffing agency together, followed by Appellant assisting Jeffries in finding work through a staffing agency he attended. Based on evidence he arrived with Jeffries, was available to participate in the burglary and attempted robbery as it unfolded, and provided countenance and assistance as their assault on Victim's house resumed with gunfire from Jeffries' vehicle as Appellant drove, a reasonable juror could find Appellant aided and abetted Jeffries in the attempted burglary that was antecedent to Jeffries taking Victim's life.

CONCLUSION

For all of the foregoing reasons, the judgment and conviction of the lower court should be affirmed.